IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Jul 21 2025

03:00PM EDT

Transaction ID 76696961

LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,

No. 24-376

PHILLIP S. ISNER,

v.

Respondent.

BRIEF OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD

Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti [Bar No. 8806] Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel rfcipoletti@wvodc.org
Renée N. Frymyer [Bar No. 9253]
Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel rfrymyer@wvodc.org
Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
West Virginia Judicial Tower
4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE, Suite 1200
Charleston, West Virginia 25304
(304) 558-7999
(304) 558-4015 – facsimile

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION OF THE HEARING PANEL SUBCOMMITTEE

This is a lawyer disciplinary proceeding against Phillip S. Isner (hereinafter "Respondent"), arising from a Statement of Charges issued against him by the Investigative Panel of the Lawyer Disciplinary Board and filed with the Supreme Court of Appeals on July 3, 2024, and served upon Respondent via certified mail by the Clerk on July 11, 2024. Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel filed her mandatory discovery on July 26, 2024, and supplemental discovery on October 1, 2024. Respondent filed his Answer to the Statement of Charges on August 16, 2024, but did not file any discovery in this matter.

Because Respondent did not provide any discovery, on October 3, 2024, undersigned counsel filed a "Motion to Exclude Testimony of Witnesses and Documentary Evidence or Testimony of Mitigating Factors." Respondent did not file a written response thereto and did not otherwise voice any objection to the motion. At a pre-hearing conference held on October 31, 2024, a Hearing Panel Subcommittee of the Lawyer Disciplinary Board (hereinafter "HPS") granted Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel's motion.

Thereafter, on November 7, 2024, this matter proceeded to hearing. The HPS was comprised of: Nicole A. Cofer, Esquire, Chairperson; Charles R. Steele, Esquire; and Margaret Chapman Pomponio, Layperson. Renée N. Frymyer, Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel, appeared on behalf of the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel (hereinafter "ODC"). Respondent appeared *pro se*. The HPS heard testimony from seven witnesses and admitted ODC Exhibits 1-52 into evidence, with ODC Exhibit 30 admitted Under Seal. Following the hearing, on April 10, 2025, the Chairperson of the HPS entered an Order which admitted additional exhibits into evidence: ODC Exhibit 53 and Respondent's Exhibits 1 and 2.

On or about April 10, 2025, the HPS filed its Report with the Supreme Court in which it properly found that the clear and convincing evidence established that Respondent had violated Rules 1.3, 1.4(a)(3), 1.4(a)(4), 1.16(d), and 3.4(c) of the Rules of Professional Conduct regarding Count I, Rules 1.3, 1.4(a)(3), 1.4(a)(4), and 1.16(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct regarding Count II, Rules 1.1, 1.3, 3.2, and 8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct regarding Count III, Rules 1.1, 1.3, 1.4(a)(3), 3.2, 8.4(c) and 8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct regarding Count IV, Rules 1.3, 3.4(c), and 8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct regarding Count V, Rules 1.3, 1.4, and 3.2 of the Rules of Professional Conduct regarding Count VI, and Rules 1.4(a)(3), 1.4(a)(4) and 1.16(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct regarding Count VII of the Statement of Charges. The HPS recommended that Respondent's license to practice law be suspended for one year, that he issue a refund to Ronald Kesner in the amount of \$2,500.00, that he comply with the mandates of Rule 3.28 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, and that he be ordered to pay the costs of the proceedings pursuant to Rule 3.15 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure. Thereafter, on April 21, 2025, the ODC filed its consent to the recommendation of the HPS. On May 9, 2025, Respondent filed his objection to the disposition recommended by the HPS.

B. FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW OF THE HEARING PANEL SUBCOMMITTEE

Respondent is a lawyer practicing in Elkins, which is located in Randolph County, West Virginia. Respondent, having passed the Bar Exam, was admitted to The West Virginia State Bar on October 9, 2003. As such, Respondent is subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia and its properly constituted Lawyer Disciplinary Board.¹

¹ Admitted by Respondent in his Answer to the Statement of Charges filed on August 16, 2024.

COUNT I - Complaint of Danielle George

In her complaint, filed on or about December 14, 2022, Danielle George stated that Respondent represented her from approximately July 12, 2020, through November 1, 2022. During that time, Ms. George alleged that Respondent was found in contempt of court in her case six times. She alleged that most of Respondent's contempt charges were due to non-responsiveness to the judge, but that he also was found in contempt for not submitting orders within the required ten-day period per the applicable rule. Ms. George further alleged that when she tried to reach Respondent regarding her case or an upcoming court date, she would have to start calling him one to two weeks in advance, and sometimes still would not get a return call. She said on three occasions she called Respondent's office to inquire about a court date and was told it was not on Respondent's schedule and the date would have to be continued. Ms. George alleged that Respondent had lost photographs and other documents pertaining to her case that she had provided him with and could not find a copy of her retainer agreement. Finally, Ms. George alleged that Respondent failed to complete the Qualified Domestic Relations Order ("QDRO") for her case. [ODC Ex. 1]

By letter dated December 19, 2022, the ODC provided Respondent with a copy of Ms. George's complaint and asked him to file a verified response within twenty days of his receipt of the same. [ODC Ex. 2] After requesting and receiving extensions of time to respond to the complaint, in his response received by the ODC on March 10, 2023, Respondent stated that Ms. George had an initial consultation with a former attorney at his office, David Fuellhart, on July 14, 2020, who agreed to accept her case. He stated that the case consisted of prosecuting a pending petition for the entry of a Domestic Violence Protective Order and a divorce. [ODC Ex. 3; 4] Respondent said Ms. George and Mr. Fuellhart agreed to a "flat fee" of \$2,500.00 for the

representation, which Ms. George paid on or about July 16, 2020. Ms. George was not billed further in the matter. Due to a scheduling conflict on the part of Mr. Fuellhart, Respondent said he prepared for and attended the initial hearing in the case, scheduled for August 3, 2020, which was a hearing on the domestic violence protective order. Following this hearing, Respondent said he agreed to take on the remaining portion of the case. Respondent stated that the case was resolved on August 22, 2022, following a settlement conference where the parties reached an agreement regarding the allocation of their marital property and debt. [ODC Ex. 4]

Respondent denied that he was found in contempt of court six times. He stated that the Rules of Practice and Procedure for Family Courts indicate that when assigned to do so, a lawyer is to submit a proposed order to the Court within ten days of the hearing.² Respondent said when a lawyer does not submit an order within ten days, it is common practice for the Court to issue a "Notice of Contempt Hearing/Rule to Show Cause" directing that counsel appear on a date certain to show cause as to why they should not be held in contempt for not preparing the order in the pertinent time frame. Respondent acknowledged that such notices had been issued in Ms. George's case but asserted that the notice is different than a finding that a lawyer is in contempt of court. He said if counsel submits the order prior to the scheduled hearing, no hearing is conducted, and no finding of contempt is made. [ODC Ex. 4]

Respondent said that for the approximately two-year period of his representation of Ms. George, his records indicated sixteen documented phone calls between them, eight of which having detailed notes of the content of the call, and sixteen documented text messages. He also said other calls took place by cell phone when Respondent was outside of the office, which were

² See Rules of Practice and Procedure for Family Court, Rule 22(b), which states, in part: "An attorney assigned to prepare an order or proposed findings shall deliver the order or findings to the court no later than ten days after the conclusion of the hearing giving rise to the order or findings."

not documented. Respondent also stated there were forty-two phone calls documented between Ms. George and non-attorney staff during that same period. Respondent acknowledged that he could not locate a written engagement agreement prepared by Mr. Fuellhart in the matter, who left Respondent's practice in the summer of 2021. Respondent admitted it was his responsibility to prepare a QDRO following the entry of the Final Order in Ms. George's case and he had not done so. [ODC Ex. 4]

By letter dated April 7, 2023, the ODC asked Respondent to provide a status update regarding the QDRO in Ms. George's matter. By letter dated May 11, 2023, Respondent stated that he had recently prepared two QDROs on behalf of Ms. George and submitted them to the Court for review and entry. [ODC Ex. 5] According to the docket sheet for Ms. George's Family Court matter, a Notice of Proposed Order with a QDRO attached was e-filed in the case on June 6, 2023. [ODC Ex. 8, bates 62] The docket sheet also reflected multiple Notice of Contempt hearing/Rule to Show Cause entries in the case, and one Order Finding Contempt against Respondent, which was entered on September 1, 2021. [ODC Ex. 8, bates 59-62]

At the hearing, Danielle George testified that she felt that Respondent had done a lot wrong in her case. She said she had received copies of the notices of contempt hearings from the court and would try to reach out to Respondent and would never hear anything back. She said the notices worried her. She said she did not understand the terminology and did not want them to be against her. She said it was her understanding that Respondent was not following through with what the court told him to do in a timely matter. She said she worried about how the contempt notices would affect her case and her son, and that it scared her as a mom. Ms. George described Respondent's communication with her overall as very poor. She said she met with Respondent ten to fifteen minutes prior to court hearings, but when asked if she felt that was adequate time to

prepare her for court, she said "absolutely not." She said it was a highly stressful situation for her. [Hrg. Tr. pp. 13-21]

Ms. George stated that Respondent appeared "discombobulated" sometimes at hearings. She recalled that a few hearings had been continued but she was given short notice, or she did not have notice until she went to court, after she had taken off work. She said she lost pay when she took off work. She said Respondent did not explain why the hearings had been continued. She said that the resolution of her case was delayed. She said after the divorce she kept calling Respondent about the QDRO and it took him several months to complete. She said that she still did not have those funds and that Respondent had not prepared the QDRO properly. Ms. George also testified that she had provided Respondent with documents and photographs, but despite requesting they be returned, she never got them back. Ms. George described a time when Respondent approached her at her job and asked her to drop the ethics complaint. She said her experience with Respondent made her scared to reach out to other lawyers. She said she felt that she did not get justice. Ms. George testified that she felt the guardian *ad litem* helped her more than Respondent. [Hrg. Tr. pp. 21-50]

At the hearing, Respondent acknowledged that he "broke the rule" that says orders should be prepared in ten days. [Hrg. Tr. p. 260] Respondent also acknowledged that this still happens at times. [Hrg. Tr. p. 262] He also admitted that he "absolutely" did not submit the QDRO in time. [Hrg. Tr. p. 265] He denied, however, asking Ms. George to withdraw her complaint, and stated that he was passionate about her case and worked very hard on her behalf. [Hrg. Tr. p. 268; 272] At the hearing, Respondent apologized to Ms. George for his conduct. [Hrg. Tr. pp. 39-42] He stated that his problems in this case occurred during the same time period of the issues addressed in his previous disciplinary hearing, which took place on November 14, 2022, and that although

he has been working on them, practice management issues are not fixed overnight. [Hrg. Tr. p. 265]

The HPS found that because Respondent failed to make reasonable efforts to expedite the QDRO matter consistent with Ms. George's interests, he violated Rule 1.3 of the Rules of Professional Conduct,³ because Respondent failed to reasonably respond to Ms. George's inquiries for information regarding her case and upcoming hearings, he violated Rules 1.4(a)(3) and 1.4(a)(4) of the Rules of Professional Conduct,⁴ because Respondent failed to surrender to Ms. George photographs and other papers to which she was entitled when his representation concluded, he violated Rule 1.16(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct,⁵ and because Respondent violated a Rule of Practice and Procedure for Family Court by failing to deliver orders to the Court in Ms. George's case within ten days after the conclusion of a hearing, he violated Rules 3.4(c) of the Rules of Professional Conduct.⁶

COUNT II - Complaint of Adam Kramer

In his complaint, filed on or about December 27, 2022, Adam Kramer stated that Respondent represented him in a Family Court matter. Mr. Kramer alleged that while

A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client.

A lawyer shall not:

³ Rule 1.3. Diligence.

⁴ Rule 1.4. Communication.

⁽a) A lawyer shall:

⁽³⁾ keep the client reasonably informed about the status of the matter;

⁽⁴⁾ promptly comply with reasonable requests for information[.]

⁵ Rule 1.16. Declining or Terminating Representation.

⁽d) Upon termination of representation, a lawyer shall take steps to the extent reasonably practicable to protect a client's interests, such as giving reasonable notice to the client, allowing time for employment of other counsel, surrendering papers and property to which the client is entitled and refunding any advance payment of fee that has not been earned or incurred. The lawyer may retain papers relating to the client to the extent permitted by other law.

⁶ Rule 3.4. Fairness to Opposing Party and Counsel.

Respondent was his lawyer, he encountered several repeated problems, including Respondent showing up to hearings with wrong or incomplete evidence, failing to show up to scheduled meetings, not responding to emails or phone calls for weeks or months, refusing to meet deadlines, failing to pay the bill from the guardian *ad litem* despite having been given the funds by Mr. Kramer, delays in filing motions, and failure to return personal property that was potential evidence in the matter. Mr. Kramer stated that there were tasks and motions that Respondent had suggested would be completed within a week or two, but often took months or a year, during which Mr. Kramer made repeated phone calls and emails to Respondent to determine the status of the case to no avail. Mr. Kramer alleged that he eventually learned that it was best to schedule an appointment with Respondent, but several times Respondent did not make it to the appointments. When he received paperwork from Respondent, Mr. Kramer said it was often inaccurate, and he had to spend his own time correcting it. Mr. Kramer ultimately retained new counsel to replace Respondent. [ODC Ex. 10]

By letter dated December 29, 2022, the ODC provided Respondent a copy of Mr. Kramer's complaint and asked him to file a verified response within twenty days of his receipt of the same. [ODC Ex. 11] After requesting and receiving an extension of time to respond to the complaint, in his response received by the ODC on March 10, 2023, Respondent stated that Mr. Kramer became his client for the first time in March 2017 when he sought representation in connection with a petition for modification of a parenting plan and a petition to change the last name of Mr. Kramer's daughter in the Family Court of Randoph County. Respondent said that the case later became complicated by the filing of an extensive counterpetition to modify filed by the opposing party. Respondent said the parties ultimately reached a settlement in that matter and

⁽c) knowingly disobey an obligation under the rules of a tribunal except for an open refusal based on an assertion that no valid obligation exists.

his representation concluded. Respondent stated that Mr. Kramer retained him for a second time on September 6, 2019, to pursue a petition for contempt, which concluded following a contested final hearing on September 1, 2020. [ODC Ex. 12]

Respondent said he was also retained to pursue a second petition to modify the parenting plan as it related to both custodial and decision-making responsibility. He said a petition to modify was filed on February 12, 2021. The parties were ultimately ordered to attend mediation, which took place on September 1, 2021. Respondent said the parties announced to the Court at a status hearing held on September 22, 2021, that they had reached a partial agreement, which was adopted by the Court that day. Pursuant to the agreement, the parties jointly requested that a guardian *ad litem* be appointed for the subject child to investigate and make recommendations on the remaining unresolved issues. The guardian presented her initial report on January 24, 2022. The Court made modifications to the parenting plan at the request of the guardian and ordered the parties to participate in mediation by April 18, 2022. However, due to scheduling issues, mediation did not occur by that date. In response, the Court ordered that the parties participate in mediation on April 29, 2022, and rescheduled the final hearing for June 8, 2022. [ODC Ex. 12]

Respondent stated that the parties participated in mediation on April 29, 2022, where an agreement was reached. The mediator, however, never memorized the agreement and this is when Respondent believed frustrations grew between himself and Mr. Kramer as any agreement that did exist at mediation fell apart over the next several weeks. The final hearing was rescheduled again, to August 24, 2022. During a meeting with Mr. Kramer and his wife, Respondent said they went over his bill, and he agreed to charge a discounted rate and/or waive some fees. He admitted that from time to time he had been overwhelmed, and the case did not always move forward at the speed Mr. Kramer desired. He stated, however, that Mr. Kramer's

demands had become unreasonable and had exceeded the scope of the representation. The final hearing did not take place on August 24, 2022, due to the Court's direction that the parties begin participating in counseling. After an order from the August 24, 2022, hearing was entered on September 22, 2022, Respondent said he received notice on September 30, 2022, from Mr. Kramer indicating that he wanted to end their attorney-client relationship. Respondent said he waived the "significant" outstanding balance Mr. Kramer had with his office and desired that the parties go their separate ways in peace. [ODC Ex. 12]

Respondent denied Mr. Kramer's allegations regarding lack of communication. He provided a statement of account he said reflected extensive documented communication with Mr. Kramer and his wife. He said there were also other calls and "countless texts" exchanged over the many years of representation which were not billed. Respondent also denied allegations concerning lack of preparation. Respondent said he used his best professional judgment about what to present at hearings and that there were times Mr. Kramer wanted things introduced or asked that Respondent believed were inadmissible or not in Mr. Kramer's best interests to use. Respondent asserted that having been in the case for approximately six years, he had a comprehensive understanding of the facts. [ODC Ex. 12]

Mr. Kramer subsequently provided additional documents which appeared to reflect his and his wife's frustrations regarding delays and lack of communication on the part of Respondent. Mr. Kramer reiterated the allegations contained in his complaint against Respondent. [ODC Ex. 13]

At the hearing, Adam Kramer testified that he filed the complaint against Respondent after "years of negligence" and negative repercussions to his daughter, his family, his life, and his bank account. He described retaining Respondent for representation in three different family

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