IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No.: 24-376

SCA EFiled: Sep 08 2025

11:59PM EDT

Transaction ID 77034852

LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD, Petitioner,

v.

PHILLIP S. ISNER, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Counsel for the Respondent, Philip Isner

Jeremy B. Cooper WV State Bar ID 12319 Blackwater Law PLLC PO Box 14837 Pittsburgh, PA 15234 Tel: (304) 376-0037 jeremy@blackwaterlawpllc.com

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Respondent takes issue with a limited number of the conclusions of the HPS regarding several of the counts against him, in addition to the characterization of his misconduct as knowing rather than negligent in most circumstances. The Respondent believes that the evidence is insufficient to demonstrate a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct relating to Counts II and VI.

Additionally, the Respondent believes that his failure to timely produce proposed orders, while technically in violation of the Rules as he admitted, and as set forth in the HPS Report, did not not actually harm his clients, nor the legal system, and that the same should be considered in mitigation of any resulting punishment. With the exception of the admission to a violation of Rule 8.4(d) regarding the Timbrook appeal, the Respondent also believes the record does not demonstrate that his conduct

was knowing, as asserted by the HPS, rather than negligent as the record supports.

Additionally, the Respondent asserts that the proposed sanctions of the HPS, specifically the one year suspension, should be reduced by this Court. The Respondent acknowledges that he will be, and should be, subject to sanction by this Court for his conduct in several of these matters. However, the imposition of a year suspension is excessive in light of the length of suspensions that this Court has imposed in other cases, some of which involve shorter suspension sfor more egregious conduct.

Additionally, the Respondent requests that this Court consider the progress that the Respondent has made with reforming his practice while under supervision, given that the great bulk of the misconduct in the instant case took place before his supervised practice began, or as it was just getting off the ground, which significantly weakens the evidence that the great bulk of the conduct here was anything but negligent. A year-long suspension will serve to frustrate and render futile the Respondent's efforts to rehabilitate his practice in response to the previous proceeding.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This Court has previously entered an order indicating that this matter will be subject to oral argument under Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. This matter is suitable for disposition either as a memorandum decision or signed opinion, depending upon this Court's view of the legal issues presented.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The standards governing the review of this matter have been recently restated by this Court:

1."This Court is the final arbiter of legal ethics problems and must make the ultimate decisions about public reprimands, suspensions or annulments of attorneys' licenses to practice law." Syl. Pt. 3, *Comm. on Legal Ethics of W.Va. State Bar v. Blair*, 174 W.Va. 494, 327 S.E.2d 671 (1984).

2."A de novo standard applies to a review of the adjudicatory record

made before the [Hearing Panel Subcommittee] as to questions of law, questions of application of the law to the facts, and questions of appropriate sanctions; this Court gives respectful consideration to the [Hearing Panel Subcommittee's] recommendations while ultimately exercising its own independent judgment. On the other hand, substantial deference is given to the [Hearing Panel Subcommittee's] findings of fact, unless such findings are not supported by reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record." Syl. Pt. 3, *Comm. on Legal Ethics of W.Va. State Bar v. McCorkle*, 192 W.Va. 286, 452 S.E.2d 377(1994).

- 3."Rule 3.7 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure[] . . . requires the Office of Disciplinary Counsel to prove the allegations of the formal charge by clear and convincing evidence." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, *Law.Disciplinary Bd. v. McGraw*, 194 W.Va. 788, 461 S.E.2d 850 (1995).
- 4."Rule 3.16 of the West Virginia Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure enumerates factors to be considered in imposing sanctions and provides as follows: 'In imposing a sanction after a finding of lawyer misconduct, unless otherwise provided in these rules, the Court [West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals] or Board [Lawyer Disciplinary Board] shall consider the following factors: (1) whether the lawyer has violated a duty owed to a client, to the public, to the legal system, or to the profession; (2) whether the lawyer acted intentionally, knowingly, or negligently; (3) the amount of the actual or potential injury caused by the lawyer's misconduct; and (4) the existence of any aggravating or mitigating factors." Syl. Pt. 4, *Off. of Law. Disciplinary Counsel v. Jordan*, 204 W.Va. 495, 513 S.E.2d 722 (1998).
- 5."In deciding on the appropriate disciplinary action for ethical violations, this Court must consider not only what steps would appropriately punish the respondent attorney, but also whether the discipline imposed is adequate to serve as an effective deterrent to other members of the Bar and at the same time restore public confidence in the ethical standards of the legal profession." Syl. Pt. 3, *Comm. on Legal Ethics of W.Va. State Bar v. Walker*, 178 W.Va. 150, 358 S.E.2d 234 (1987).

Lawyer Disciplinary Bd. v. Harris, No. 23-419 (W. Va. Mar 21, 2025).

B. The Record does not support the finding of violations in Counts II and VI.

The Respondent asserts that there is insufficient evidence of violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct as it relates to Mr. Kramer. In his Proposed Findings, the Respondent advanced the following position as it relates to Mr. Kramer's complaint:

- 56. Mr. Kramer's accusations appear to date back to the first time he was represented by the Respondent. It is hard to find Mr. Kramer credible as he hired the Respondent on at least two additional occasions spanning a period of 6-7 years. If the Respondent's communication was a bad as he claimed, it seems unlikely he would have hired the Respondent three separate times.
- 57. Further, as to allegations of preparedness and competency, the undisputed testimony was that the only issue that was not resolved by agreement of the parties was that of the child's name change. Mr. Kramer prevailed at this hearing and the child's name was changed.
- 58. The Respondent asserted that Mr. Kramer's criticisms of his competency and preparedness were not meritorious and were the result of either trial strategy or that evidence Mr. Kramer wanted introduced was inadmissible under the Rules of Evidence or not in Mr. Kramer's best interest to present. Given that the sole contested issue either Mr. Kramer of the Respondent testified about was a successful request to change the child's name, the Panel cannot find Mr. Kramer's personal assessment or opinion of the Respondent's competency to be with merit and cannot find that the ODC met its burden to prove a violation of Rules 1.3 or 1.4 by clear and convincing evidence.
- 59. The Panel further finds the Respondent's testimony regarding the reasonableness of Mr. Kramer's demands as it relates to communication to be credible. With no corroborating evidence and only the testimony of the Kramers to support this claim, the panel cannot find a violation of Rule 1.3 as it relates to diligence or Rule 1.4 as it relates to timely providing Mr. Kramer with information about his case. An attorney owes the client a duty of reasonable communication, not communication on demand at all hours of the day.
- 60. The panel cannot find clear and convincing proof of a violation of Rule 1.6 as the result of allegations the Respondent failed to surrender to Mr. Kramer photographs and other papers to which he was entitled when his representation concluded. The evidence suggests that the photo album in question was provided to the Respondent at the time of the first case he represented Mr. Kramer with. If the photo album was not returned at that time it seems illogical to believe that Mr. Kramer would have sought the Respondent's representation with two subsequent matters. Finally, the Respondent would have no motive to keep photographs of Mr. Kramer's family. This would pose no value to him or create any incentive whatsoever to intentionally or knowingly keep the photos. If Mr. Kramer's claims regarding the photos were found to be both credible and proven by clear and convincing evidence, the failure to return the photos would be negligent at best, negligence being the least culpable mental state in connection with a rule violation.

(Respondent' Proposed Findings, at 23-24).

The Respondent also contends that the complained-of conduct in Mr. Kesner's case in Count VI does not support a finding of the violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct by clear and convincing evidence on the record produced. The Respondent's Proposed Findings took the following position concerning the evidence presented:

126. The Panel cannot find clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent violated 1.4 of the Rules of Professional Conduct by failing to keep Mr. Kesner informed in light of the conflicting testimony between Mr. Kesner and the Respondent and the overall lack of credibility of Mr. Kesner's claims for the reasons set forth above. It seems unlikely that Mr. Kesner would have hired the Respondent in 2021 if he had not received a return phone call from him in five years, a time period that would date back to at least 2019. Moreover, testimony from Mr. Kesner and the Respondent indicated that Mr. Kesner again hired the Respondent in October 2022 to assist him in the defense of unrelated criminal charges that had been filed against him. Again, this seems unlikely if he had never received a return phone call and was as dissatisfied as he claims to be.

127. The ODC alleges that, because Respondent neglected Mr. Kesner's case and failed to take appropriate action in the matter, he violated Rule 1.3 of the Rules of Professional Conduct. The ODC has not proven this allegation by clear and convincing evidence, however. The evidence presented shows that the matter was still pending at the time of the hearing and no evidence beyond Mr. Kesner's suppositions as a layperson was introduced to show the case was not diligently prosecuted, aside from the fact that it had been pending for a long time.

128. The ODC alleges a violation of Rule 3.2, claiming respondent engaged in dilatory practices and failed to make reasonable efforts consistent with the stated and agreed upon objectives of Mr. Kesner. Similar to the allegations of a violation of Rule 1.3 the ODC has not proven this allegation by clear and convincing evidence. The evidence presented shows that the matter was still pending at the time of the hearing and no evidence beyond Mr. Kesner's suppositions as a layperson was introduced to show the case was not prosecuted in a manner that was consistent with the stated and agreed upon objectives, aside from the fact that it had been pending for a long time.

(Respondent's Proposed Findings, at 44-45).

The Respondent respectfully requests that this Court consider the Respondent's position in light

of the testimony of the Respondent, the Kramers, and Mr. Kesner, and the documentation of record in order to determine whether the interpretation of events advanced by the Respondent, or that which was adopted by the HPS, should prevail on these specific counts. (Transcript, November 7, 2024, at 49-89, 89-156, 156-175; ODC Exhibits, Bates 79-192, 492-531).

C. The sanctions proposed by the HPS should be reduced based upon a comparison to other disciplinary decisions, and based upon the particular circumstances of this case.

This Court's recent decision in *Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Curnutte*, No. 23-746 (June 6, 2025), provides the most salient benchmark for an appropriate sanction. In *Curnutte*, the respondent attorney was found to have committed violations across four separate client matters. The proven charges included failure to act diligently (Rule 1.3), failure to communicate (Rules 1.4(a)(3) and (4)), failure to expedite litigation (Rule 3.2), failure to comply with a tribunal rule (Rule 3.4(c)), conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice (Rule 8.4(d)), and repeated failures to respond to lawful requests of the ODC (Rule 8.1(b)). Most significantly, Mr. Curnutte had been previously suspended for ninety days for knowingly submitting false information regarding his malpractice insurance coverage — a serious prior disciplinary history that the Court treated as a weighty aggravating factor. *Id.*, at *4-11, *21-30.

Despite this pattern of misconduct, repeated defiance of ODC requests, and an adverse prior record, the sanction imposed was only six months' suspension, with Chief Justice Wooton dissenting in part on the ground that even that penalty was excessive under the circumstances. *Curnutte*, at *29-36, He would have imposed a three-month suspension coupled with CLE and law office management conditions. *Id.*, at *36.

By contrast, Respondent in the present case stands before this Court with no prior disciplinary record of comparable gravity. The alleged violations stem primarily from practice management shortcomings, isolated delays, and communication lapses during a discrete period of professional

strain. Unlike *Curnutte*, there is no evidence of dishonesty, willful defiance, or knowing falsehood. Where mistakes occurred, such as the appeal of the Timbrook matter, or refund delays, Respondent took immediate remedial action, including retaining substitute counsel, issuing refunds, and candidly admitting error in both testimony and correspondence. These mitigating actions are precisely the kind of remedial steps this Court has recognized as warranting reduced sanctions.

This Court cited another recent case, *Lawyer Disciplinary Bd. v. Davis*, No. 20-0871 (W. Va. Feb. 11, 2022) (memorandum decision), in arriving at its sanction in *Curnutte*. In that case, an experienced attorney with a prior suspension, violations that this Court deemed to be knowing, failure to consistently cooperate with ODC, and a lack of mitigating factors, all combined to justify a six month suspension. *Id.*., at *5-9. The circumstances in that case, like the *Curnutte* case, exceed those of the instant case, yet the Petitioner seeks to double the penalty.

It would defy proportionality for this Court to impose a sanction equal to or greater than that imposed in *Curnutte* or *Davis*. If an attorney with multiple clients harmed, a prior suspension for dishonesty, and repeated defiance of ODC received a six-month suspension, then the present case — involving fewer counts, no prior suspension, candor, restitution, and meaningful mitigation — warrants a substantially lesser sanction. At most, discipline should be limited to a public reprimand or brief suspension. Anything more would create the appearance of inconsistency in this Court's application of its own precedents and undermine the principle that sanctions must be proportionate to the nature of the misconduct.

Rule 3.16 of the West Virginia Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure requires a consideration of actual or potential injury in determining a sanction. The Respondent asserts that the various violations contained in Counts I and V, solely as they relate to the failure to timely produce proposed orders, did not cause any actual or potential harm to the respective clients, or damage their legal position. The HPS Report includes a single paragraph on injuries resulting from the conduct at issue in

this case. There is no description with any granularity as to what sort of harm may have arisen from the failure to produce a proposed order on time. (HPS Report, at 38-39). While the Respondent acknowledges that articulable harm arose from Counts III and IV involving the Timbrooks, he does not believe that the late filing of proposed orders, and the accompanying Rules to Show Cause routinely employed by the Family Court, and then abandoned following presentation of a proposed order, can be linked to adverse outcomes for a client based upon the record that was made in the proceedings below.

It should also be considered that the Respondent has been operating under supervised practice pursuant to this Court's prior disciplinary order, and that he has been actively working to ameliorate the practice deficiencies that led to the instant complaints. The great bulk of the conduct complained of here occurred either prior to the commencement of the supervised practice, or in its early stages. To impose a lengthy suspension now render his progress futile. In the Respondent's Proposed Findings, the Respondent described the interventions he has made since his previous discipline:

To recap, during the time period of supervised practice the Respondent has made significant steps to ensure these types of violations do not continue in the future. The include, but are not limited to:

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